STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chester County

Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES HAROLD BALDWIN,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001923

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
May 12 2021
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial court err in allowing a forensic pathologist to testify as an accident and crime scene reconstructionist, which was beyond the scope of her expertise?

2.

Did the trial court err in admitting into evidence an irrelevant and prejudicial photograph from Facebook of appellant in a group with the Sheriff of Chester County in an attempt to paint appellant as close friends with the Sheriff, and then compound the error by eliminating the text from the Facebook post showing it was only a photo-op at a fund raiser?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Chester County grand jury indicted appellant for murder and on October 28, 2019, appellant was tried before the Honorable Daniel D. Hall and a jury. R. 1. Candice Lively and Jay Johnson represented the State. R. 1. Philip Jamieson and Bradley Jordan represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 1119, l. 21 – 1120, l. 5. Judge Hall sentenced appellant to life imprisonment. R. 1124, l. 15 – 24. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The evidentiary issues in this case are reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard.

State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003).

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred in allowing a forensic pathologist to testify as an accident and crime scene reconstructionist, which was beyond the scope of her expertise.

Introduction

The central question in this entirely circumstantial case was whether appellant Jamie Baldwin's ("Baldwin") wife, Judy Orr Baldwin ("Judy"), died in a fall from a stepladder. After a highly unusual and irregular investigation, which included extensive involvement by Judy's lifelong, close friend, Coroner Terry Tinker, the State settled on an elaborate theory that Baldwin beat Judy to death, staged the scene at their home to look like an accidental fall, then staged another scene after a car crash suffered by Baldwin while driving his dying wife to the hospital. R. 375, l. 19 – 380, l. 4. R. 1069, l. 9 – 1071, l. 19.

The Night of the Accident

Baldwin called 911 on the night of December 14, 2016. R. 82, l. 4 – 21. (State's Ex. 5). He told the dispatcher that he and his wife had been in "a bad wreck." (State's Ex. 5). They "ran off the bridge." (State's Ex. 5). He did not think his wife was breathing and said he needed help. (State's Ex. 5). He is distraught and crying. (State's Ex. 5). He had already tried CPR (State's Ex. 5).

Fireman Mike Ehrmantraut was dispatched to the scene at 11:06 PM and was the first to arrive. R. 86, l. 4 – 7. R. 87, l. 2 – 6. The wreck happened on a rural "winding" two-lane road called Old Richburg Road. R. 85, l. 6 – 17. He saw Baldwin at the guardrail on the side of the road. R. 87, l. 9 – 16. Baldwin told the fireman, "Go help my wife, she's down there" and that he had pulled her out of the water. R. 87, l. 17 – 21. Ehrmantraut found the Baldwins' jeep

at the bottom of an embankment in a creek and saw Judy's body outside of the Jeep and partially in the water. R. 87, l. 22 – 89, l. 20.

Baldwin told the EMTs and highway patrol that he was on his way to take Judy to Piedmont Medical Center in Rock Hill. R. 117, l. 20 – 118, l. 2. Judy fell putting up their Christmas tree, cut her head and was bleeding badly. R. 117, l. 20 – 118, l. 2. A pickup truck was in their lane and when Baldwin swerved to miss it, he went down the embankment. R. 116, l. 18 – 22.

The fireman said it “was a dark evening.” R. 87, l. 22 – 25. The witnesses who responded to the scene agreed it was foggy. R. 92, l. 11 – 12 (Fireman Ehrmantraut). R. 110, l. 9 – 10 (EMT John Faulkner). R. 121, l. 15 – 17 (EMT Tyanne Perry). R. 234, l. 16 – 25 (Trooper Matthew Nix). Another fireman agreed that had Baldwin not come up to the road, it would have been difficult to locate the Baldwins' Jeep in the creek at the accident scene. R. 105, l. 4 – 13.

The State called its own investigator to criticize Baldwin's choice of hospital and route. R. 208, l. 19 – 217, l. 5. The investigator said it was only 1.97 miles from their house to the Chester Hospital, but much farther to Piedmont in Rock Hill, which required getting on Interstate 77. R. 208, l. 19 – 217, l. 5. The investigator also said Baldwin's choice of Old Richburg Road to get to I-77 was almost two miles longer and that “a person who is of any common sense” would have instead taken the four-lane road, Highway 9 instead of Old Richburg. R. 208, l. 19 – 217, l. 5. Baldwin had worked as a 911 dispatcher for Chester County. R. 102, l. 19 – 25. He was not employed by the sheriff's office at the time of the accident. R. 305, l. 18 – 20. Piedmont in Rock Hill was a higher level trauma center than Chester's hospital. R. 97, l. 4 – 7. R. 120, l. 14 – 18. Chester EMS often takes people to Piedmont instead of

Chester's hospital. R. 120, l. 16 – 18. The EMTs took Baldwin to Piedmont Medical Center in Rock Hill for his injuries. R. 110, l. 22 – 111, l. 3.

Trooper Calvin Rikard with the MAIT Unit responded to the scene, but was sent to the hospital in Rock Hill to talk to Baldwin. R. 193, l. 4 – 23. He recorded his interview with Baldwin, which was conducted at 2:43AM. R. 193, l. 24 – 197, l. 11. In this interview he told the trooper about the accident at the house and that he was taking Judy to the hospital. R. 200, l. 7 – 202, l. 6. (State's Ex. 1).

Baldwin gave another interview to Chester County Sheriff's Deputy Christopher Reynolds six days after the accident on December 20, 2016. R. 266, l. 16 – 267, l. 18. (State's Ex. 2). He begins the interview emotionally, crying, wondering if there is anything else he could have done. (State's Ex. 2). Baldwin said they picked up supper the night of the accident at Chicken King around 7:30PM. (State's Ex. 2). He packed his clothes to go on a charity trip for his motorcycle club to Kentucky to help deliver Christmas presents for deprived children. (State's Ex. 2).

Baldwin told Judy he would help finish the Christmas tree. (State's Ex. 2). Using a ladder, he put the star and a couple of balls on the tree. (State's Ex. 2). He then set the ladder against a wall near the kitchen. (State's Ex. 2). Appellant went into his shop. (State's Ex. 2). When he came back in the house, Judy was on the floor near the fireplace. (State's Ex. 2). She was on her hands and knees trying to get up. (State's Ex. 2). The ladder was now back near the tree. (State's Ex. 2). He helped Judy up, took her into the bathroom to clean her wound, but it was bleeding profusely. (State's Ex. 2). He could not remember what time he came back from the shop and found Judy. (State's Ex. 2).

At one point Judy sat down on the bathroom floor while Baldwin got a cloth. (State's Ex. 2). He helped her up. (State's Ex. 2). Baldwin told Judy she needed stitches and she replied she did not want to go to Chester Hospital. (State's Ex. 2). Baldwin explained that she "hated" Chester Hospital because her father died there. (State's Ex. 2). He said he would take her to Piedmont. (State's Ex. 2). Judy wanted to lie down, but Baldwin would not let her and said they needed to get to the hospital. (State's Ex. 2). He moved the seat back and put Judy in their Jeep. (State's Ex. 2). They left for the hospital. (State's Ex. 2).

Judy was able to talk in the Jeep. (State's Ex. 2). She said her head hurt. (State's Ex. 2). It was foggy. (State's Ex. 2). Baldwin looked up and saw an oncoming truck and eventually realized it was in their lane. (State's Ex. 2). He swerved to the right to avoid a head-on collision. (State's Ex. 2). The back of the Jeep "got squirrely" and "shot across the road." (State's Ex. 2). They hit something and the Jeep came to a stop. (State's Ex. 2).

The next thing Baldwin could remember was waking up and reaching over for Judy. (State's Ex. 2). She was not in the Jeep. (State's Ex. 2). At this point during the interview, Baldwin was overcome with emotion. (State's Ex. 2).

Baldwin saw the passenger door wide open and bent back toward the front of the Jeep. (State's Ex. 2). He climbed out the passenger side. (State's Ex. 2). Baldwin went back toward the road looking for Judy, but did not see her. (State's Ex. 2). When he went back to the Jeep he saw her lying in the creek. (State's Ex. 2). He pulled her as far as he could out of the creek toward the Jeep. (State's Ex. 2). Baldwin got his phone from the car and called 911. (State's Ex. 2). He climbed the embankment to the road so that he could flag down first responders. (State's Ex. 2).

Deputy Reynolds left the room and after he returned, told Baldwin the video recording had been stopped. (State's Ex. 2). He asked Baldwin if he wiped Judy's face because there was no blood on her face. (State's Ex. 2). Baldwin could not remember. (State's Ex. 2). Deputy Reynolds wondered if Judy got out of the Jeep on her own, to which Baldwin replied with surprise and found it deeply troubling. (State's Ex. 2). Deputy Reynolds said the MAIT team "had it one way" and they were shooting holes in each other's theories. (State's Ex. 2). He alludes to "rumors" in the community. (State's Ex. 2). Baldwin denied they argued that night and said he and Judy "had a great relationship." (State's Ex. 2). Baldwin said the police were welcome in his house any time and the ladder was in the carport. (State's Ex. 2).

The Highway Patrol's MAIT Unit conducted an investigation into the car accident and Trooper Brian Trotter was qualified as an expert in accident reconstruction and analysis of event data recorders. R. 397, l. 11 – 15. MAIT removed the event data recorder ("EDR") from the Jeep. R. 398, l. 20 – 399, l. 10. The EDR's purpose is to decide when to deploy a car's airbags. R. 400, l. 3 – 402, l. 14. The Jeep's EDR showed no event for the night of the accident. R. 400, l. 3 – 10. An EDR will record a change in speed of five or more miles per hour within 150 milliseconds. R. 400, l. 3 – 402, l. 14. Using this information from the data recorder and what he observed from an investigation at the scene, Trooper Trotter opined that the Jeep's descent from the road to the creek was "a low speed maneuver." R. 405, l. 6 – 413, l. 13. He believed that the Jeep was controlled by Baldwin during the accident. R. 414, l. 4 – 10. On cross-examination, he agreed that no event would be recorded if Baldwin applied the brakes and slowed the car as it ran off the road. R. 422, l. 4 – 18.

The Coroner and the Investigations

During her unusual opening statement, the solicitor told the jury that Judy's family "dealt with a sheriff's office that would not do their job." R. 72, l. 17 – 19. She said it "took months, months to get the sheriff's office to allow SLED to come in and do a thorough investigation, and only then were they able to put everything back together that the defendant had tried so hard to tear apart." R. 72, l. 19 – 23. She warned the jury they would hear about "conflicting egos and conflicting departments." R. 72, l. 23 – 73, l. 2. She called it "white noise." R. 73, l. 4 – 7.

Coroner Terry Tinker had known Judy his whole life. R. 331, l. 24 – 332, l. 9. Judy's first husband began working for Coroner Tinker when he was assistant chief of the Chester fire department. R. 331, l. 24 – 332, l. 9. He socialized with Judy and her first husband "many times" and considered them "personal friends." R. 376, l. 2 – 19. Coroner Tinker and his wife attended Baldwin's bond hearing, the only bond hearing he ever attended in his life. R. 379, l. 12 – 380, l. 1. Coroner Tinker went to every day of the trial. R. 1080, l. 24 – 1081, l. 3.

Coroner Tinker went to the scene and recognized Judy when he saw her body in the creek. R. 330, l. 3 – 331, l. 23. He said he went "into a mode of was she ejected from the jeep or did something else happen to her, and that's my job." R. 332, l. 10 – 17. When he got back to the top of the creek, an officer told him that Judy did not die from the wreck. R. 334, l. 1 – 7. Coroner Tinker told someone that "there was something very suspicious because it was not adding up with the highway patrol, I had more injuries on this body that to be ejected from the vehicle." R. 335, l. 1 – 13. He took his own photographs at the scene. R. 337, l. 10 – 19. He asked the police "to go put somebody on the residence of Ms. Baldwin." R. 335, l. 12 – 13. At that point, Coroner Tinker had no information about any other place where Judy could have been

injured. R. 335, l. 14 – 17. He scheduled an autopsy at York Pathology for the next day. R. 336, l. 19 – 337, l. 9. He later learned that night about the fall at the Baldwins' house. R. 339, l. 5 – 9. He did not go to the house, saying "The Chester County Sheriff's Office was supposed to take care of the scene at the house. I took care of the scene at the death scene." R. 339, l. 18 – 24. He testified he continued "my part as the death investigator, which I am. I'm a death investigator, that's what my job is supposed to be that night." R. 346, l. 22 – 347, l. 1.

Coroner Tinker claimed Deputy Reynolds told him that night on the bridge, "You know this is not a homicide," and this caused him concern. R. 340, l. 11 – 22. Deputy Reynolds testified that Coroner Tinker told him he believed it was a murder as soon as he arrived. R. 285, l. 9 – 19. Coroner Tinker denied saying this. R. 380, l. 7 – 381, l. 10.

Deputy Reynolds went from the car wreck to the Baldwins' home, then to Piedmont. R. 246, l. 11 – 247, l. 24. Baldwin gave Deputy Reynolds permission to search the house and told him there was a key behind the refrigerator. R. 248, l. 9 – 21. Deputy Reynolds took photographs inside the house. R. 251, l. 5 – 17.

Boxes with Christmas decorations are on the sofa. (State's Ex. 100). A very tall Christmas tree is in the corner. (State's Ex. 109). Four stockings are hung from the mantle, but a space is left and two stockings are on the floor. (State's Ex. 101, 105). A folding stepladder leans into the Christmas tree. (State's Ex. 101). Blood can be seen on the mantle and on the tile surrounding the fireplace. (State's Ex. 101). The damaged tile seen in the photos was not broken during this accident. R. 255, l. 22 – 25. Shards of broken ornaments are on the floor around the leaning base of the ladder. (State's Ex. 104). Blood was also found in the bathroom. (State's Ex. 126).

A close-up photograph shows that ornamental cast iron stocking holders sit on the mantle for the stockings still in place. (State's Ex. 111). A broken cast iron stocking holder is on the floor. (State's Ex. 105). The stocking holder is in the shape of Santa Claus holding an irregular shaped object over his shoulder, likely a small Christmas tree. (State's Ex. 195). A second, intact cast iron stocking holder in the shape of a Christmas tree is at the base of the tree under the ladder. (State's Ex. 102).

The officers measured the mantle's height at fifty-five (55) inches. R. 256, l. 24 – 257, l. 5. They measured the height of the stepladder at its highest point, the handle, and it was fifty-one inches tall. R. 257, l. 12 – 258, l. 4. The Christmas tree was nine feet tall without the star or angel on top. R. 259, l. 4 – 5. The Chester deputies did not secure the scene or take any items into evidence that night. R. 263, l. 10 – 265, l. 3. Another officer went the next day and collected the broken stocking hanger. R. 276, l. 21 – 277, l. 3.

Coroner Tinker attended the first autopsy, which was performed by Dr Roger Stone the day after the accident. R. 341, l. 1 – 342, l. 2. Judy was small, only 60 inches tall and weighing 139 pounds. R. 453, l. 7 – 11. She had a “[c]omplex laceration on the right forehead” measuring two inches. R. 454, l. 12 – 15. It had “a very irregular shape.” R. 464, l. 5 – 7. Dr. Stone noted what he called “raccoon eyes,” which is blood pooling under the eyes after a skull fracture, which he also found. R. 464, l. 8 – 18. Judy had subarachnoid and subdural hemorrhages. R. 465, l. 17 – 466, l. 12. The cause of death was blunt force trauma to the head. R. 465, l. 5 – 11. He noted sites of impact on the back of Judy's head. R. 475, l. 15 – 24. Dr. Stone did not make a determination as to manner of death—either accident or homicide. R. 469, l. 12 – 20. He told law enforcement he could not rule out an accident. R. 474, l. 12 – 19.

Deputy Reynolds attended the autopsy and said Coroner Tinker was unhappy with the results.” R. 289, l. 3 – 13. Dr. Stone said Coroner Tinker “was highly suspicious of homicide.” He admitted he may have told defense counsel in an earlier conversation there was “crossfire” in the room during the autopsy. R. 473, l. 2 – 7. R. 473, l. 11 – 12. Coroner Tinker said, “whenever I saw the massive damage that I observed I immediately thought to myself—and this is strictly up to a coroner to do this, when I saw the massive amount of damage I knew right then I was going to do another autopsy.” R. 347, l. 2 – 13. He claimed he was not dissatisfied, but wanted a forensic pathologist “to look at it.” R. 347, l. 14 – 22. Dr. Janice Ross performed her autopsy the next day. R. 348, l. 3 – 4. Dr. Ross did not make a conclusion as to the manner of death at that time. R. 350, l. 11 – 22.

Coroner Tinker said a “Long, long time,” passed where he could not get together with the sheriff’s office to work towards a conclusion on manner of death. R. 351, l. 1 – 14. He said “the Sheriff of Chester County was not ever willing to help me at all, never, ever.” R. 352, l. 2 – 7. Coroner Tinker called his friend, the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, and told the judge about his trouble with the sheriff. R. 352, l. 8 - 353, l. 9. Feeling like he “was trying to drag this ball and chain myself,” Coroner Tinker asked Judge Gibbons to “orchestrate a sit down meeting.” R. 352, l. 8 - 353, l. 9.

According to Coroner Tinker, Judge Gibbons called a meeting that included his office, the sheriff and his deputies, the Highway Patrol, the solicitor’s office, and SLED. R. 353, l. 1 – 9. Coroner Tinker knew that Baldwin formerly worked for Chester County dispatch and was concerned about the relationship between the sheriff and Baldwin. R. 354, l. 1 – 355, l. 7. He wondered why SLED was not brought to the scene that night and added, “Why could we not bring somebody else in to help us prove what we’re trying to prove?” R. 354, l. 5 – 17. SLED

took over the investigation. R. 280, l. 5 – 9. Nine months after her second autopsy and two days after a meeting with Coroner Tinker, the solicitor, the sheriff’s office, and SLED, Dr. Ross amended her report to find homicide as the manner of death. R. 390, l. 22 – 391, l. 5. R. 527, l. 8 – 528, l. 14.

Dr. Ross’s Testimony and the Trial Court’s Error

Before Dr. Ross was qualified as an expert in forensic pathology, appellant objected to the scope of her testimony and Judge Hall excused the jury to hear a proffer. R. 483, l. 9 – 4. Dr. Ross admitted she is not a biomechanical expert. R. 484, l. 10 – 487, l. 21. She knew that biomechanical experts give opinions on force and injury. R. 484, l. 10 – 487, l. 21. She admitted she is not a blood spatter expert. R. 484, l. 10 – 487, l. 21. She admitted she is not certified as a crime scene investigator. R. 484, l. 10 – 487, l. 21. She admitted that at the time she amended her report, she did not know the height of the stepladder or the height of the Christmas tree. R. 484, l. 10 – 487, l. 21.

When asked if she performed any calculations to determine how much force it would take to fracture a skull, she said, “You can’t do that in medicine. You can’t line up people and hit them in the head and figure out . . . How much force causes certain injuries depending on the skull.” R. 484, l. 10 – 487, l. 21. She agreed she performed no calculations of force and was not qualified to do so, but claimed she could give examples based on her experience. R. 484, l. 10 – 487, l. 21. When questioned by the solicitor, she claimed, however, that based on her experience she could render an opinion on whether falling from a stepladder could cause a “24 centimeter skull fracture.” R. 488, l. 15 – 489, l. 20. Judge Hall found her qualified “to render an opinion about significant force.” R. 489, l. 22 – 490, l. 8. He noted the objection from the defense. R. 490, l. 25.

Dr. Ross testified that she found two injuries to Judy’s head—the right forehead and the left side of the head. R. 495, l. 8 – 22. Underlying the injuries was a skull fracture that started from the left side of her head and went across the “bony structure of the base of the skull, the bony structure that’s above the eye. . . .” R. 495, l. 8 – 496, l. 3. R. 498, l. 17 – 499, l. 16. She said there were “at least two separate impacts.” R. 497, l. 13 – 16. It measured 24 centimeters. R. 499, l. 17 – 21.

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