**RECEIVED**

**May 07 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Chester County  
The Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001923

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES HAROLD BALDWIN,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.  
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

104 N. Main Street  
Lancaster, SC 29720  
(803)-416-9367

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

---

<sup>8</sup> It is possible the trial judge inferred from this objection that Appellant was concerned about Ross exceeding the scope of her expertise, but it is equally possible the trial judge interpreted this as a generic objection to Ross' testimony that did not relate to the scope of her expertise. In any event, this Court is forced to use context clues from the questions asked during Appellant's proffer because neither Appellant nor the trial judge placed the substance of their bench conference on the record.

accident or crime scene reconstructionist. Because the question of whether Ross exceeded the scope of her expertise as a forensic pathologist was not raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge on the record, this issue is not preserved for appeal.

**Dr. Ross did not exceed the scope of her expertise**

Even if this Court determines Appellant properly preserved this issue for appeal, the trial judge did not err in allowing Ross to answer the aforementioned questions because the questions did not call for Ross to exceed the scope of her authority as a forensic pathologist nor did Ross' answers exceed the scope of her authority.

Pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, expert testimony is admissible under the following circumstances:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Rule 702 SCRE. "Expert testimony may be used to help the jury to determine a fact in issue based on the expert's specialized knowledge, experience, or skill and is necessary in cases in which the subject matter falls outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge." Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). In order to admit scientific evidence under rule 702 SCRE, the trial court must find: (1) the testimony will assist the trier of fact, (2) the witness is qualified, (3) the underlying science is reliable, and (4) the testimony's probative value is not outweighed by its prejudicial effect. State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999). "The qualification of an expert witness and the admissibility of the expert's testimony are matters within the trial court's sound discretion." Chavis, 412 S.C. at 106, 771 S.E.2d at 338.

“Pathology is the study of the diseases and degenerative processes that occur in the body. It is the branch of medicine that seeks to explain the nature of diseases, their signs, symptoms, and causes.” 40 Am.Jur. *Trials* 501 § 5. “Forensic pathology is that subspecialty which is concerned with the cause and manner of death for legal or public purposes. The word ‘forensic’ is defined as ‘belonging to the courts of justice or to public debate and discussion.’” 40 Am.Jur. *Trials* 501 § 6 (quoting 33 Am.Jur *Trials* 467 § 1, 2, 18). “The very essence of forensic pathology is investigative, in that it seeks through detailed examination of a decedent’s body to reconstruct the cause and manner of death. Clues are provided by the decedent’s body, and the pathologist’s training and expertise allow him or her to draw conclusions based on those clues.” United States v. Vega-Penarete, 974 F.2d 1333 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992) (unpublished table decision).

Here, Appellant alleges that Ross exceeded the scope of her authority as a forensic pathologist and instead testified as an accident and crime scene reconstructionist. Contrary to Appellant’s assertion, Ross’ testimony remained within the bounds of her expertise and properly relied on her 43 years of experience as a forensic pathologist. (R. 481). Ross’ qualifications in the field of forensic pathology are unassailable. In addition to her 43 years of experience working as forensic pathologist, Ross was previously tendered as an expert in the field in various courts of law over 260 times. (R. 483). Ross properly relied on her experience in the field of forensic pathology in providing an opinion regarding whether Victim fell from a ladder or was beaten with an object. Ross explicitly relied on this experience when she testified “It’s what I’ve experienced and seen before as being beaten, yes.” (R. 513, lines 23-24). In fact, Ross’ answers were general in nature and lacked the specificity Appellant complains of on appeal. Ross merely described Victim’s injuries as being “more consistent with being hit with an object.” (R. 512, lines 24-25). When asked on cross examination whether she could testify about the amount of

force used on Victim, Ross replied “I can’t give you the amount of force in foot pounds or whenever (sic), but I can tell you by experience what kind of injuries occur at different scenarios.” (R. 517, lines 1-3).

Furthermore, the notion that Ross somehow testified as an accident or crime scene reconstructionist is belied by her answers to the questions Appellant complains of on appeal. Ross’ answers focused entirely on the injuries sustained by Victim and the condition of her body. The answers Appellant complains of on appeal did not mention the crime scene nor objects located at the crime scene. Ross offered no opinions on the crime scene nor did she attempt to reconstruct it. Ross merely testified Victim suffered at least two separate blows and her injuries were more consistent with being beaten with an object rather than falling off a ladder. (R. 511-13). Ross’s testimony properly focused entirely on Victim’s injuries and never strayed into the realm of accident or crime scene reconstruction.

Ross’ testimony is consistent with testimony that has been repeatedly recognized as being within the scope of the expertise of a forensic pathologist by our state’s Supreme Court. For example, in State v. Lopez, our Supreme Court held the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the testimony of a neurosurgeon on the characteristics of battered child syndrome and shaken baby syndrome. State v. Lopez, 306 S.C. 362, 367, 412 S.E.2d 390, 393 (1991). The Court noted a properly qualified expert could provide testimony that “may support an inference that the child’s injuries were not sustained by accidental means.” Id. Here, like in Lopez, Ross appropriately testified, based on her review of Victim’s physical injuries, that they were inconsistent with an accidental fall. Similarly, the Supreme Court held in State v. Tyner that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the testimony of a forensic pathologist who testified about the distance of a shotgun blast and the absence of powder burns on the victim’s

body. State v. Tyner, 273 S.C. 646, 652, 258 S.E.2d 559, 562 (1979). Like Appellant in this case, Tyner claimed a forensic pathologist exceeded the scope of his expertise and testified as a ballistics expert by providing the aforementioned testimony. Id. Our Supreme Court disagreed. Id. If Appellant's argument were taken to its logical extreme, forensic pathologists would never be able to testify about causes of injury in our state's courts for fear of straying into the realm of a crime scene reconstructionist or other specialty. This Court should not endorse such a draconian limitation on a well-recognized field of science.

Appellant additionally complains that Ross' testimony "blunted the testimony of Appellant's two experts." (Initial Brief of Appellant 16). If Ross exceeded the scope of her expertise in opining on the facts and circumstances surrounding Victim's death, then Appellant's expert, Dr. Beaver, exceeded the scope of his expertise in the same manner. Beaver, like Ross, was tendered as an expert in the field of forensic pathology. (R. 974). Like Ross, Beaver was asked to provide his opinion regarding Victim's manner of death when Appellant posed the following question: "And, Doctor, then is it your opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the scientific evidence that you observed is consistent with a fall from the ladder?" (R. 988, lines 17-19). Beaver testified Victim's injuries were consistent with a fall from a ladder. (R. 988). Therefore, it is disingenuous for Appellant to complain he was somehow prejudiced by Ross' testimony when Appellant's expert offered testimony that was cumulative to Ross' testimony. The jury was not required to accept either expert's testimony. Indeed, the trial judge instructed the jury in his closing instructions that: "you are not required to accept an expert's opinion even though it is not contradicted." (R. 1111, lines 12-14). Here, Ross and Beaver's testimonies directly contradicted each other. The jury was not required to accept either expert's opinion. Ultimately, on appeal, Appellant is dissatisfied with Ross' conclusion because

Appellant disagrees with it; not because the trial judge abused his discretion in allowing Ross' testimony. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

## II.

**The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting a Facebook photo of Appellant and Sheriff Alex Underwood into evidence because the photo helped explain why the investigation of Victim's death was delayed for approximately two years and why there were multiple deficiencies in the investigation of Victim's death. Even if the photo was admitted in error, any error was entirely harmless because the photo was cumulative to other evidence regarding Appellant's close relationship with the Sheriff's Office that Appellant did not object to.**

Next, Appellant argues the trial judge erred in admitting a Facebook photo of Appellant and Chester County Sheriff Alex Underwood because the photo was irrelevant and unduly prejudicial to Appellant. Specifically, Appellant argues the photo suggested an improper basis for the jury's verdict because it allowed the jury to imply that Appellant received favorable treatment from the Chester County Sheriff's Office and to explain away the deficiencies in the State's case. (Initial Brief of Appellant 19). On the contrary, the photo was relevant evidence that served a probative purpose and was not unduly prejudicial to Appellant. The State offered the photo into evidence to explain to the jury why the investigation into Victim's death was delayed, why another law enforcement agency became involved with the investigation, and why various pieces of evidence were not collected by law enforcement. However, even if the trial judge admitted the photo in error, the photo was cumulative to other evidence that was not objected to by Appellant. Therefore, any error in the admission of the photo was harmless.

### Relevance

“Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401 SCRE. “Although relevant, evidence may be

excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury..." Rule 403 SCRE. "Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis." State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting United States v. Bonds, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993)). "All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be avoided." Id. "A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances." State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014).

Here, it was uncontroverted that Appellant was a former law enforcement officer and was a former employee of the Chester County Sheriff's Office as a dispatcher. (State's Exhibits #1, #3). It was also undisputed that Appellant was not charged with a criminal offense until August 2018, nor was it disputed that SLED charged Appellant with murder, rather than the Chester County Sheriff's Office. (R. 813, 1136-37). The State was entitled to explain those facts to the jury. The Facebook photo was offered, along with other evidence, to explain the delayed investigation of Victim's death as well as some of the failures by law enforcement to collect evidence. (R. 356, State's Exhibit #197).

Appellant's relationship with the Chester County Sheriff's Office helps explain several deficiencies in the initial investigation. For example, Investigator Reynolds testified he was denied permission by his superiors to obtain Appellant's phone records. (R. 272-73). Appellant's phone records could have shed considerable light on the timeline of events on the evening of December 14<sup>th</sup>. The phone records could have corroborated or contradicted King's testimony regarding when Appellant called her on December 14<sup>th</sup>. Additionally, Appellant's relationship

with the Chester County Sheriff's Office helps explain why law enforcement did not treat Appellant and Victim's residence more like a crime scene. After taking photos at Appellant's home, Reynolds and Deputy Jonathan Thomasson left the home without blocking or taping off the scene to restrict access to it. (R. 134, 263-65). Law enforcement also did not secure the step ladder for evidentiary purposes and it was later burned in a fire according to Appellant. (State's Exhibit #3). Reynolds testified he "[ran] everything up the chain of command" when deciding how to process the scene. (R. 263, lines 20-21). Because the scene was not secured, King was able to go to the house the following morning and clean up Victim's blood, thereby destroying evidence. (R. 694-98). Appellant's expert, Ross Gardner, described the way the crime scene was investigated in the following manner: "there's no nice way to say it, it was trash. There is a basic rule in crime scenes, you treat every unattended death as a homicide. Things were never picked up, things were not photographed, things were not collected." (R. 925, lines 18-21).

The Facebook photograph served a limited but probative purpose. The photograph illustrated Appellant's relationship with the Chester County Sheriff's Office. Appellant's relationship with the Sheriff's Office was relevant to explain the deficiencies in the Sheriff's Office's investigation and ultimately why SLED assisted with the investigation. Appellant suffered little to no prejudice from this evidence because multiple witnesses, including Appellant himself, acknowledged Appellant had a prior relationship with the Sheriff's Office. (State's Exhibit #1, #2, #3). Therefore, the probative value of the photo was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the photo.

### **Harmless Error**

“Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case.” State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003). No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). “Where a review of the entire record establishes the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the conviction should not be reversed.” Thompson, 352 S.C. at 562, 575 S.E.2d at 83. “Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” Mitchell, 286 S.C. at 573, 336 S.E.2d at 151 (quoting State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 180 S.E.2d 888 (1971)). “Cumulative evidence has repeatedly been defined to be additional evidence of the same kind to the same point.” State v. Funderburke, 251 S.C. 536, 540, 164 S.E.2d 309, 311 (1968). “The admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence.” State v. Kirton, 381 S.C. 7, 37, 671 S.E.2d 107, 122 (Ct. App. 2008).

Even if the Facebook photo was erroneously admitted into evidence, it was cumulative to other evidence which was not objected to by Appellant. Therefore, any error in the admission of the photo was harmless. Multiple witnesses testified regarding Appellant’s relationship with the Chester County Sheriff’s Office, and about the Sheriff’s Office’s unwillingness to assist with various aspects of the investigation. In fact, references to Appellant’s relationship with the Sheriff’s Office were so ubiquitous that the trial judge made the following remark when denying Appellant’s motion for a continuance after the Facebook photo was entered: “the Court’s view is there has been nothing that should have been or is not fully disclosed to the defense and that the

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